SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO.: 94,421

FILED THOMAS D. HALL

MAY 2 4 2000

CLERK, SUFREME COURT

JULIO MORA,

Appellant/Defendant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/ Plaintiff.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GENE REIBMAN, ESQUIRE

Attorney for Appellant 600 Northeast Third Avenue Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33304 Telephone: (954) 467-8715 Telefax: (954) 763-4856 Florida Bar No.: 289140

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Hon. Paul L. Backman Trial Judge

Hon. Robert Butterworth, Esquire Attorney General

Timothy Donnelly, Esquire Assistant State Attorney

Leslie Campbell, Esquire Assistant Attorney General

Dennis Colleran, Esquire Guilt Phase Trial Counsel for Appellant

FACTS

A. Introduction.

This is a double murder case for which appellant, Dr. Julio Mora, received two sentences of death. He was charged with the May 27, 1994 first degree murders of Dr. Clarence Rudolph and Karen Starr Marx, Esquire, and the attempted first degree murder of Maurice Hall, Esquire. Dr. Mora defended on the grounds of insanity at the time of the offense by reason of a long-standing paranoid delusional disorder, and intoxication and self-defense. Dr. Mora was quite vocal at the trial and there is in the record visible tension in some of the exchanges between Judge Backman and Dr. Mora.

There was testimony in the record that Dr. Mora acted out his delusions through litigation as individuals with paranoid delusional disorders may do. The shootings in the case occurred at a deposition in one such piece of litigation in which Dr. Mora had sued Dr. Rudolph and his employer AARP for sexual harassment and other wrongs. Mrs. Marx and Mr. Hall were the defense lawyers. The court reporter captured the killings on an audio tape recording of the deposition. Dr. Mora filed motion after motion with the trial court alleging in its various permutations the existence of a vast conspiracy against him involving all or some of the victims, Judge Backman, Judge Eade who had the case earlier, and this court and its former Chief Justice. At some point, each of Dr. Mora's lawyers in turn became conspirators as well.

Dr. Mora testified in his own defense. His recounting of

events was bizarre and disturbing. He described a nightmarish world punctuated at every turn with relentless brutalizing attacks on him by Dr. Rudolph and his black-Chinese henchman, Wong Chung. In addition to the psychological and psychiatric testimony describing Dr. Mora's insanity and incompetency, the defense also presented substantial historical evidence recounting Dr. Mora's strange and paranoid behavior over virtually the whole of his life.

Dr. Mora believed that Dr. Rudolph was at the core of the conspiracy to kill him by shooting at him and by pumping poison gas into his apartment at night. Dr. Mora had reported many of these incidents to the police and some of those officers testified at trial about Dr. Mora's allegations. Dr. Mora's apartment at Hurley Hall, an adult independent living facility, was rigged with devices to both prevent the gas from entering and to vent it out if the devices were unsuccessful. A clear plastic wrapping hung from the ceiling surrounding Dr. Mora's bed. Electric outlets were stuffed with foam. Numerous table fans with their grates removed were positioned throughout the apartment. Filters were installed, windows were sealed and Dr. Mora had rigged his door to stay open 5" to vent the gas.

The jury found Dr. Mora guilty on all counts and it recommended the death sentence by an eight to four vote and Judge Backman sentenced Dr. Mora to death by electrocution for both

killings. (R. 3184-3185).¹

several written motions defense counsel sought a In declaration that Dr. Mora was incompetent. (R. 828-829, 1295-1298, 1304-1308, and 3715-3183). Ore tenus motions were periodically heard as well. Judge Backman found Dr. Mora competent each time. Dr. Mora and penalty phase counsel, Mr. Malnik, clashed on what sentencing evidence should be presented with Mr. Malnik holding to the view that Dr. Mora's approach guaranteed a death sentence. In one heated exchange, Dr. Mora objected to Mr. Malnik's attempt to obtain mitigation evidence from his family, and he tried to force the issue by asking the court to permit him to waive known and unknown mitigators and he asked the court to impose the death penalty on him then and there. After much back and forth, Dr. Mora went forward with the penalty phase on his own with Mr. Malnik as his stand-by counsel. No mitigating evidence or argument was presented to the penalty phase jury except Dr. Mora addressed the jury as follows:

Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen. I know you face a very difficult task now. I am going to try to make it easy for you. About 1,500 years ago in the year 540 after Jesus Christ died, the Pope called and granted to my family several powers. Two of them according to the law was the power to bless and the power to forgive, since it's based upon the law.

(Thereupon, a statement was made by the defendant in Latin, after which the following proceedings were had:) (Tr. 3074).

¹ The pleadings are referenced by the signal "R." The trial transcripts are referenced by the signal "Tr." The supplemental record consisting of the <u>Spencer</u> hearing proceedings are referenced by the signal "SR."

B. The Sentencing Order.1. The Aggravating Circumstances.

For the Rudolph killing Judge Backman found an aggravating circumstance under §921.141(5)(b) Fla. Stat. because of the contemporaneous felony convictions of the first degree murder of Mrs. Marx and the attempted first degree murder of Hall. The Rudolph and Hall convictions established the same aggravating factor for the Marx killing. (R. 3187-3188).

Judge Backman found the killing of Mrs. Marx to be especially heinous, atrocious or cruel because Dr. Mora, after shooting Mrs. Marx several times and while she lay on the floor crying for help, "lingered with apparent composure and deliberation listening to Mrs. Marx's cries, utterly impervious to the fact that she was still alive, conscious and in obvious agony and terror." (R. 3190-3192, quote at 3192).

2. The Mitigating Circumstances.

Judge Backman court rejected the §921.141(6)(b) Fla. Stat. extreme mental or emotional disturbance mitigator even though all four experts, Doctors Stock [delusional disorder of a prosecutory type], Macaluso [paranoid delusional disorder], and Ceros-Livingston [paranoid schizophrenia] for the defense, and Dr. Spencer for the State, [some paranoid personality disorder], agreed that Dr. Mora suffered from a paranoid delusional disorder, a condition Judge Backman later found to be a non-statutory mitigator. The court found that Dr. Mora was not at the time of the shootings under an extreme mental or emotional disturbance,

but was rather "an individual enacting a deliberate plan of action absent any trace of extreme mental or emotional disturbance." (R. 3193-3197, quote at R. 3197). Judge Backman also found that Dr. Mora had the capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct and to conform his conduct to requirements of law.

Judge Backman drew most heavily on Dr. Spencer's testimony that Dr. Mora's paranoid personality disorder did not impair his ability to know right from wrong or to appreciate the consequences of his actions, and that the Dr. Mora's conduct at the deposition, as depicted on the court reporter's audio tape, was not congruent with the behavior of an individual who was acting under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance. Judge Backman also drew on the testimony of Dr. Stock to the effect that Dr. Mora was "embellishing or lying" about the gun play being instigated by Wong Chung, who fired at Dr. Mora from the doorway of the deposition room, the testimony of Dr. Macaluso that Dr. Mora knew what he was doing and believed it to be legally justified but morally wrong and, Dr. Ceros-Livingston's conclusion that Dr. Mora was manipulative. (R. 3194-3196).

Judge Backman rejected the §921.141(6)(f) Fla. Stat. mitigator finding that Dr. Mora's paranoid personality disorder did not impair Dr. Mora's ability to know right from wrong or interfere with his capacity to appreciate the consequences of his conduct. (R. 3197-3198).

Judge Backman rejected Dr. Stock's opinion that Dr. Mora was insane at the time of the shootings because Dr. Stock's opinion

was "diminished by the doctor's finding that the defendant fabricated information to make his claim of self-defense more credible" and he rejected as well the opinions of Dr. Macaluso and Dr. Ceros-Livingston that Dr. Mora was insane. (R. 3198). Judge Backman also found that Dr. Mora's capacities were not diminished from the large amount of drugs that he claimed to have ingested prior to the shootings because there was testimony describing how Dr. Mora should have appeared if he had taken that amount and combination of drugs that was inconsistent with the way the court found Dr. Mora to have acted on the tape. (R. 3199-3200).

The court found Dr. Mora's age, 68 years old at the time of the shootings and 71 years old at the time of conviction, did not exist as a mitigating factor. (R. 3200-3201).

Judge Backman rejected as not established by a greater weight of the evidence Dr. Mora's argument pursuant to §921.141(6)(c) Fla. Stat. that the victims were participants in his conduct, or consented to it, because he was defending himself from conspirators who had made multiple attempts on his life and because the shootout was started by Wong Chung who had shot into the room hitting Dr. Rudolph and Mr. Hall with the first wave of bullets. (R. 3201).

Judge Backman found that Dr. Mora's acquittal of the crimes of attempted murder and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony negated the §921.141(6)(a) Fla. Stat. no significant history of criminal activity mitigator (R. 3201-3202).

Judge Backman found no evidence that Dr. Mora acted under

extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another person pursuant to §921.141(6)(e) Fla. Stat.(R. 3202).

For non-statutory mitigators, the court found that Dr. Mora was under a delusional impression that people were trying to kill him and accorded that some weight; that Dr. Mora had a history of gainful employment and accorded that some weight; that Dr. Mora had a difficult unstable childhood and accorded that little weight; that Dr. Mora had long-standing emotional problems and accorded little weight; that Dr. Mora had a history of mental illness in his family and accorded that little weight; that Dr. Mora had specific good characteristics [intelligence, charm and grace] and accorded that little weight; that Dr. Mora's actions were not morally justified; and, that Dr. Mora made some contributions to society and accorded that little weight. (R. 3202-3207).

C. The Guilt Phase Testimony.1. Dr. Mora's Testimony.

In the deposition room, Dr. Mora saw Dr. Rudolph pat his jacket pocket about forty times. Dr. Mora knew that this gesture was a death threat by Dr. Rudolph because just prior to the start of the deposition Dr. Rudolph had attacked Dr. Mora in the men's room, patting his pocket, flashing a gun from in there, and then kneeing Dr. Mora in the groin and throwing Dr. Mora against a wall while telling Dr. Mora that he would blow Dr. Mora's brains out before he left the building. Dr. Mora was armed at this time and he could have shot Dr. Rudolph then and there and ended his

persecution, but his resolve failed him. (Tr. 2130-2135).

Dr. Mora had thought about abandoning the deposition after the attack but he felt that his only hope was to catch Dr. Rudolph lying under oath, so Dr. Mora entered the room. Everyone was inside. As he had hired the court reporter, Dr. Mora thought that he should be the one to decide where everyone sat, plus he felt that he needed to be close to the door to escape in case something happened. When the others rejected Dr. Mora's attempt to rearrange the seating, Dr. Mora felt that he had no choice but to sit at the place they had for him which was away from the door. When Dr. Rudolph's deposition began, everyone's eyes were on Dr. Mora so Dr. Rudolph could do whatever he wanted without anyone seeing him. Dr. Rudolph put his finger on his lips, a gesture meant to silence Dr. Mora. Dr. Rudolph's face mutated to that of a gargoyle and he touched his pocket many times. Dr. Mora felt for his gun in his pocket and he waited for Dr. Rudolph to draw. Mrs. Marx started perspiring, and her eyes opened up like round saucers. Only Mrs. Marx and Dr. Mora had a sight line to the deposition room door. (Tr. 2142-2144). Wong Chung was at the door with a gun with a silencer. Wong Chung pointed his weapon at Dr. Mora. Dr. Mora shot and the bullet went into the door. Mr. Hall threw Dr. Mora's briefcase at Dr. Mora's head knocking off Dr. Mora's glasses, blinding him. Dr. Rudolph dived under the table and grabbed Dr. Mora's ankles and wrapped his thighs around him and he may have tried to grab at the gun. Dr. Mora thinks he shot Dr. Rudolph in the hand. (Tr. 2136-2147). Mrs. Marx turned to her purse to get a

gun so Dr. Mora shot her. Dr. Mora had no clear memory after that. Dr. Mora believed that he fought with Dr. Rudolph for the gun but he did not know that for sure. The image going through Dr. Mora's head at the time was his recollection of being a ten-year-old boy in Germany in 1936 watching two Brown Shirts beat up two Jews and smashing them against a wall so you could hear the crack of their bones, their brains, their skulls and their spines. Dr. Mora could not explain how or why he had those thoughts after 50 years. Dr. Mora believed that when Mr. Hall threw the briefcase, he put his body into the line of fire and he was shot in the shoulder by Wong Chung who also shot Dr. Rudolph in the thigh. (Tr. 2136-2150).

When Dr. Mora left the room, he found himself floating on the ceiling. He saw rocks and had to vomit. He tried to get to the bathroom. He saw several doors and opened one and a man with a black mask jumped on him. Dr. Mora thought it was the assailant. He believed that was when he shot Mr. Hall in the stomach. Mr. Hall and Dr. Mora fought. Mr. Hall took the gun away, Dr. Mora lifted his cane to hit the assailant in the head but then he recognized him as Mr. Hall and Dr. Mora left.

Dr. Mora left the room where he fought with Mr. Hall and Mr. Tannenbaum, the owner of the court reporting service, held him for the police. The police arrived and Dr. Mora blacked out. (Tr. 2150-2154).

Dr. Mora traveled by taxi to the Cumberland building. The previous night he was gassed with Freon 12 gas that gave him hypothermia. He had gotten home late on night of May 26th because

Dr. Rudolph had shot his tire out on I-95. Now his car had the donut spare on it and it could not be driven to the deposition. Earlier that day Dr. Rudolph had threatened Dr. Mora, telling him that he had a gun and that he would blow Dr. Mora's brains out. When he finally arrived home at 12:00 or 12:30 a.m. on the morning of the depositions, after having his tire shot out, Dr. Mora prepared his door, which took an hour to an hour and a half, and he put on his fans and set his filters to half power. When the gas did come, he fell asleep and he was cold. Dr. Mora got up and found his gas mask, but the gas penetrated it, and although Dr. Mora passed out, he still managed to turn his filters up to high to get relief. At 3:30 a.m. Dr. Mora showered and took some Percondan, Darvocet, Tylenol Three, Flexeril and Xanex to remove his "pain and dysfunction" and "vomiting." The pain was from an accident, a long ago air crash from which Dr. Mora suffered through nineteen operations in the United States and Europe, and which put him in a coma with resultant memory loss. He was living in terror and he was depressed. (Tr.2101-2110).

Dressed by 4:30 a.m., Dr. Mora's plan was to stay in his car. For safety, he had been sleeping in his car since March of 1994. But, before Dr. Mora could get to the car, Dr. Rudolph called. Although Dr. Mora's telephone number had been changed to prevent calls from Dr. Rudolph, he was on the line nonetheless. Dr. Rudolph told Dr. Mora that he was going "to convert my body in a vessel of agony" and that he would "cut[] my eyes and swallow them." Dr. Rudolph threatened Dr. Mora with a "Columbian necktie"

where one's tongue is cut out and one drowns in his own blood. (Tr. 2110-2116).

Dr. Mora went to his car and he sat in it. The vehicle moved even though its battery was disconnected and Dr. Mora had not engaged the ignition. Dr. Mora had been for some time routinely disconnecting the car battery to combat tampering with it by the Rudolph forces- they were discharging it- and he had installed a special lock on the trunk so when the battery was in there no one could get at it. Dr. Mora went back and forth between his car and his apartment, but neither provided respite because the car kept on moving and Dr. Rudolph and Wong Chung kept on calling, telling Dr. Mora that they were waiting for him outside to kill him and that they would kill him if he went to the deposition or if he went to the Palm Beach hotel. (Tr. 2116-2122). Rudolph and Wong Chong learned about the Palm Beach hotel in March of 1994. Dr. Mora had been driving to court in West Palm Beach when he was stopped by the police. He decided to stay in a hotel. The next day at the hotel Dr. Mora was entering his car when he was kidnaped at gunpoint by Dr. Rudolph and Wong Chung and he told that he would be killed if he didn't drop the lawsuit. (Tr. 2058-2060).

In the taxi going to the deposition, Dr. Mora saw a van with black windows following. Dr. Mora tried to explain his concern that Dr. Rudolph and Wong Chung would try to ram them. The taxi driver became alarmed. In the taxi, Dr. Mora opened his briefcase and moved his gun to his pocket so he would have rapid access to it if something happened. Later, after Dr. Mora arrived at the

Cumberland building, he felt safe and he was going to put the gun back in his briefcase while he was in the men's room, but Dr. Rudolph attacked him. Before arriving at the Cumberland Building, Dr. Mora had the taxi driver stop at BSO headquarters to pick up documents that Dr. Mora wanted to use to impeach Dr. Rudolph. (Tr. 2122-2131). A few days before the shootings, on May 23rd, Dr. Mora was at the Palm Beach County Courthouse. A man who appeared as if he didn't belong there was following him. Earlier, the man was at Florida Atlantic University and he was at Publix as well. When Dr. Mora went home, the man was there. Dr. Mora went to the University of Miami Law School and the man was there. When he came back to his car after two or three hours, the man was there. Dr. Mora went to Home Depot to pick up a filter for the gas. The man was there as well. This time Dr. Mora confronted him and asked him why he was following him, but the man said he wasn't doing that. The Home Depot manager called BSO and the deputy determined that Dr. Mora had a suspended license and could no longer drive. (Tr. 2076-2081). Dr. Mora got a substitute licence and now he wanted a report of the incident to confront Dr. Rudolph with, but he could not get it. (Tr. 2080-2081, 2122-2125). On May 24th they had tried to poison him with a deadly poison, clostridium perfrigent. Dr. Mora knew that they were using this poison because he smelled it on his food and a cat ate the food and died on the spot. The next day, the 25th, Dr. Mora attended a scheduled deposition but no one else came. He took a gun with him to that deposition to protect himself. (Tr. 2083-2086).

Garbled printouts from Dr. Mora's computer, introduced into evidence, proved that Dr. Rudolph had gotten into Dr. Mora's computer and sabotaged it. (Tr. 2100-2101).

Dr. Mora met Dr. Rudolph in 1987. Through Dr. Rudolph and AARP, Dr. Mora obtained employment that lasted several years. Dr. Mora also helped Dr. Rudolph in his office until the "pain and dysfunction" came on and Dr. Mora had to go to the hospital. (Tr. 1806-1815). Dr. Rudolph caused Dr. Mora to lose a job with the USDA. This pained Dr. Mora greatly. Dr. Mora also did work for Dr. Rudolph's consulting firm, P.I.E., as a scientific consultant but the State Attorney stole the documentation of this from his home. (Tr. 1810-1820).

Dr. Rudolph had tried to get Dr. Mora to engage in improper conduct when Dr. Mora worked for the United States District Court. Then, in June of 1993, Dr. Rudolph, who was not a psychologist or psychiatrist, psychoanalyzed Dr. Mora and brainwashed him to get him to obey. (Tr. 2009). Because P.I.E. had the word psychological in it, Dr. Mora believed that meant that Dr. Rudolph was practicing psychology without a license. Also of significance to Dr. Mora was that there was no physical address on the P.I.E. letterhead, only a post office box that Dr. Rudolph used for everything and a telephone number that was the same telephone number as a subsidiary of AARP. (Tr. 2015-2018).

In September, Dr. Rudolph sexually attacked Dr. Mora. Another physical attack occurred in October, when Dr. Mora refused to notarize documents for Dr. Rudolph. (Tr. 2019). It seems that

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