JULIO MORA,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 94,421

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARRETT W. HANNA ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO. 0016039 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409 (561) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

#

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

> During the guilt phase of the trial, counsel for the Defendant presented evidence intended to support a finding that the Defendant was insane at the time of the crime. In presenting this evidence, the Defense relied upon the experts Dr. Macaluso, Dr. Ceros-Livingston and Dr. Stock, who all opined that the Defendant was insane at the time of the offense.

> Doctor Stock testified that the defendant knew what he was doing, and understood the consequences of his actions. His conclusion that the defendant was insane at the time he committed the crime was based upon his opinion that the defendant did not know his actions were wrong, because of his belief that he acted purely in self-defense. However, as previously noted, the Court finds that this opinion that the defendant did not know the

wrongful nature of his actions because he truly believed that he was acting in selfdefense is diminished by doctors finding that the defendant fabricated information in order to make his claim of self-defense more credible.

Defense witness Dr. Thomas Macaluso, testified that the defendant knew what he was doing, and knew that what he was doing was Dr. Macaluso also opined morally wrong. similar to Dr. Stock, that because the defendant claimed that he acts in selfhe felt that his actions were defense, justified and thus not legally wrong. Based upon the opinion that the defendant did not know his actions were legally wrong, Dr. Macaluso found that the defendant was insane at the time of the crime.

Dr. Ceros-Livingston testified that the defendant knew what he was doing at the time of the crime, but in terms of the law, did not know the difference between right and wrong, and was insane at the time of the crime because he did not understand the consequences of his actions.

State witness Dr. John Spencer, stated that the defendant did not suffer from a mental illness, and was sane at the time of the crime. He testified that although the defendant does have paranoid personality characteristics, this did not obviate the defendant's ability to know right from wrong, nor did it interfere with his ability to appreciate the consequences of his actions.

During the Spencer hearing, the defendant presented the testimony of Doctor Howard Ollick, a forensic toxicologist, in order to establish that the Defendant was intoxicated at the time of the crime, and therefore unable to appreciate the criminality of his action. This Court notes that Dr. Ollick's credentials are now significantly in dispute. The Court, however, in taking Dr. Ollick's testimony regarding the effects of medications to be true, and in careful consideration of the totality of the circumstances, finds that the facts as presented to the Court clearly do not support said testimony. Dr. Ollick testified that the Defendant supplied him with a list of medications which Defendant alleged that he took on the morning of, and just moments prior

to the crime. Dr. Ollick testified to the effects of these medications, and explained how the Defendant would have appeared had he The testimony revealed however taken them. that the description of Defendant should have appeared under the influence of these drugs was completely inconsistent with the actual demeanor and behavior of the Defendant as evidence by the audio tape. It must be additionally noted that at the time of the Defendant's arrest, no medications were found on Defendant's person, in his brief case or nylon bag present at the crime scene, in his car, or in his home. Other than the Defendant's own testimony, the record is totally devoid of evidence establishing that the Defendant had ingested any of these or any drugs, prior to committing the offense. This Court specially finds that any expert forensic the toxicologist presenting testimony on effect of the drugs mentioned in this case would result in the same conclusion based on the total lack of substantiation in the record other than the testimony of the Defendant himself.

This Court is not reasonably convinced that either the totality of the facts, or any expert or non-expert opinion support a finding of this statutory mitigating circumstance. Although the evidence reveals that the Defendant does in fact have a history of paranoid delusional disorder, it is apparent that for quite some time prior to the commission of the crime, Defendant was able to exist with this disorder and still conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. Furthermore, the evidence indicates that the Defendant knew what he was doing at the time of the crime, and knew that it was morally wrong. Having considered each of the factors presented in support of this circumstance, the Court finds that it has not been established by the greater weight of the evidence that the capacity of the Defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or conform his conduct to the requirements of the law, was substantially impaired at the time he committed the crime, and that his statutory mitigating circumstance does not exist.

(R 3197-3200). To reiterate, a trial court's findings in mitigation will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. <u>Preston v. State</u>, 607 So.2d 404 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert. denied</u>, 507 U.S. 999(1987). And as long as the court considered all of the evidence, the trial judge's determination of lack of mitigation will stand absent a palpable abuse of discretion. <u>Provenzano v.</u> <u>State</u>, 497 So.2d 1177, 1184 (Fla. 1986).

In Provenzano, this Court rejected the defendant's similar contention that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to find that his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. There, of the five psychiatrists who testified, three stated that the defendant knew right from wrong on the day of the shootout. In addition, the defendant admitted on cross-examination that he knew it was a crime to carry concealed weapons. What is more, the defendant's actions on the day of the shootout supported a finding that he knew his conduct was wrong and that he could conform his conduct to the law if he so desired. The fact that he hid the weapons indicated that he knew it was unlawful, and only minutes before the shootout, the defendant put change in the parking meter so he would not get a ticket. Furthermore, instead of allowing his knapsack to be searched, he removed his knapsack from his car, to prevent discovery of the fact that he illegally possessed weapons. Id. at 1184.

Similarly, in the instant case, three out of four doctors testified that Appellant knew right from wrong. And although Dr.

Stock testified that Appellant did not know right from wrong, he based his belief on the fact that Appellant insisted he was acting in self-defense. (T 1759). But on cross-examination, Stock testified that Appellant knew what he was doing, knew that he had a gun and knew what the gun did. (T 1767-1768). In addition, Appellant admitted that he knew right from wrong and specifically indicated that he knew what he did was morally wrong. (T 2353). In fact, on the day of the shooting, Appellant testified that even when Dr. Rudolph allegedly attacked him in the bathroom, prior to the deposition, he was not able to shoot him because it "was a tremendous pain in myself to shoot a man." (T 2215). What is more, Appellant's actions that day supported a finding that he knew his conduct was wrong and that he could conform his conduct to the law if he so desired-he hid his gun in his briefcase and during the deposition itself, whenever Dr. Rudolph refused to answer a question, Appellant certified the question to be later addressed by a trial judge. Moreover, the trial court did not have to accept Appellant's self-serving statements regarding his motives or his claims that he had ingested various prescription drugs. See Pardo v. State, 563 So.2d 77, 80 (Fla. 1990) ("As proof [of Pardo's ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or that he was seriously impaired] the trial judge was supposed to have focused on Pardo's testimony that he did not consider drug dealers people and that killing them was justified. However, there was no testimony that Pardo's ability to conform his conduct was impaired or that he did not know that killing these victims was wrong. The court did

not have to accept Pardo's self-serving statements regarding his motives.")

\*In <u>Chandler v. State</u>, 702 So.2d 186 (Fla.1997), this Court reiterated the approved procedure by which trial courts must address such proffered evidence:

> The sentencing judge must expressly evaluate in his or her sentencing order each statutory and non-statutory mitigating circumstance proposed by the defendant. This evaluation must determine if the statutory mitigating circumstance is supported by the evidence and if the non-statutory mitigating circumstance is truly of a mitigating nature. A mitigator is supported by evidence if it is mitigating in nature and reasonably established by the greater weight of the evidence.

Id. at 200 (quoting Ferrell v. State, 653 So.2d 367, 371 (Fla.1995)). Generally, if a trial court conducts the proper inquiry<sup>1</sup>, it is within its power to determine whether mitigating circumstances have been established by a preponderance of the evidence. Foster v. State, 679 So.2d 747, 755 (Fla.1996). With respect to expert psychological evaluations of a defendant's mental health, "expert testimony alone does not require a finding of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. Even uncontroverted opinion testimony can be rejected, especially when it is hard to reconcile with the other evidence presented in the case." Id. at 755; see also Walls, 641 So.2d at 390-91 (reasoning that opinion

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>See Walker v. State</u>, 707 So.2d at 319 (directing trial courts to conduct "a thoughtful and comprehensive analysis of any evidence that mitigates against the imposition of the death penalty").

testimony "gains its greatest force to the degree it is supported by the facts at hand, and its weight diminishes to the degree such support is lacking").

In this case the trial judge spent several pages evaluating Appellant's proffered mitigators and resolved the conflicts in the evidence regarding the statutory mental mitigators against Appellant, specifically finding the state's expert witnesses more credible and compelling. As a result of its thoughtful and comprehensive analysis, the court found that the statutory mental mitigators had not been established. Because it properly considered and weighed all of the evidence presented, the state submits that there is no error in the court's rejection of Appellant's proffered statutory mental mitigators. See Foster v. State, 679 So.2d 747, 755 (Fla. 1996); <u>accord Gudinas v. State</u>, 693 So.2d 953, 967 (Fla.) (affirming trial court's rejection of statutory mental mitigator where court concluded expert's opinion was "too heavily based upon unsupported facts"), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 345 (1997). Accordingly, this Court must affirm Appellant's sentence of death for both the murder of Dr. Clarence Rudolph and for Karen Starr Marx.

#### <u>ISSUE IV</u>

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT REFUSED TO FIND THAT APPELLANT HAD NO SIGNIFICANT HISTORY OF CRIMINAL ACTIVITY. (RESTATED)

Appellant argues that the trial court improperly rejected his lack of criminal history as a statutory mitigator. In its order, the trial court rejected this mitigator based upon the fact that Appellant had committed prior violent criminal activity in that he was charged with the attempted murder of his wife and that he used a firearm in the commission of a felony. (R 3201). Although the court acknowledged that the jury ultimately found that the state had not proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant attempted to kill his former wife, it felt that conviction was not necessary to support rejection of this mitigator. Apparently, the court focused upon the violent nature of Appellant's prior activity, rather than focusing upon the number, or lack thereof, of convictions.

If this Court finds that the court improperly refused to find this mitigator on this basis, the state submits that in culling the record this Court will find evidence that Appellant was an extremely violent person who admitted to committing significant prior criminal activities. During his direct examination, Appellant <u>admitted</u> that he fired his gun at a group of people. "I opened, eventually opened the glove compartment, I lowered the glass, the window glass and they were about maybe 15, 20 feet away and I shot in the air." (T 1891). Apparently, these people ran, but

Appellant admitted that he tried to shoot again. "I get, make another shot in there and they disappeared." (T 1891). Appellant also admitted that he carried his gun with him everywhere, including church. (T 1898). This admitted criminal activity was unfortunately a foreshadowing of things to come, revealing an obvious pattern of and propensity for violence, as well as a blatant disregard for the sanctity of human life<sup>2</sup>. In light of his admissions, the validity of Appellant's claimed lack of criminal history is extinguished, particularly where Appellant's actions persons were aimed at the same (Dr. Rudolph and AARP representatives) he subsequently murdered. See Warlick v. State, 722 N.E.2d 809 (Ind. 2000) (holding that defendant's lack of significant criminal history was not a mitigating factor, where he was convicted of murder same woman against whom he had committed misdemeanors). Thus, the state contends that the trial court's this mitigator was appropriate under the rejection of circumstances. See Caso v. State, 524 So.2d 422 (Fla. 1988).

In <u>Washington v. State</u>, 362 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1978), this Court upheld the trial court's rejection of the lack of significant prior criminal history, even though the defendant had no convictions in his past. There, the record revealed and the trial court recognized, that the defendant had carried on a course of burglaries and had stolen property for a significant period of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The policy behind this mitigator is to show that a criminal defendant's conduct for which he is on trial is an aberration. However, a review of the entire record in the instant case reveals that Appellant's actions cannot be considered aberrational.

time. In addition, the defendant confessed that he had committed a series of burglaries throughout Dade County and sold the stolen merchandise to two of his victims. On appeal, the defendant argued that convictions were required to negate the statutory mitigator under section 921.141(6)(a), but this Court dismissed his argument and affirmed the trial court's rejection of the mitigator. Here, Appellant makes the identical argument that a conviction is required in order to reject this statutory mitigator. But the state submits that Appellant's own admission of his criminal conduct was sufficient to negate the lack of significant prior criminal history mitigator. And the trial court's rejection of this mitigating circumstance was therefore supported by the record.

Nevertheless, should this Court disagree with the state's contention that the trial court's rejection was right for the wrong reasons, the state submits that any error was harmless<sup>3</sup>, in view of the two particularly weighty/strong aggravating circumstances-HAC and contemporaneous capital felony as discussed in Issues I and VI of this brief. <u>See Henderson v. Singletary</u>, 617 So.2d 313, 315 (Fla. 1993) (finding "prior violent felony" constituted "weighty aggravating factor"). For example, in <u>Miller v. State</u>, the trial court refused to find the appellant's proposed mitigator that he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Both the United States Supreme Court and this Court have repeatedly conducted harmless error analyses in death cases. <u>See,</u> <u>e.g., Hitchcock v. Dugger</u>, 481 U.S. 393, 399 (1987); <u>Bottoson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 674 So.2d 621 (Fla.1996); <u>Shere v. State</u>, 742 So.2d 215, 224 (Fla. 1999).

suffered from long term alcohol and substance abuse, despite uncontested evidence to the contrary. Although this Court found that the trial court abused its discretion in rejecting the proposed mitigation, given the weighty aggravating factors present, this Court found any error to be harmless. <u>Id.</u>; <u>see also Pietri v.</u> <u>State</u>, 644 So.2d 1347, 1354-55 (Fla. 1994) (applying harmless error analysis to trial court's erroneous inclusion of aggravating factor). As a result, this Court should affirm Appellant's sentences of death for the first degree murders of Karen Starr Marx and Dr. Clarence Rudolph.

### ISSUE V

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT REJECTED APPELLANT'S AGE AS A MITIGATOR. (RESTATED)

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